STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT

SUSAN REAUME,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v

TOWNSHIP OF SPRING LAKE,

Defendant-Appellee.

Supreme Court No. _____

Court of Appeals No. 341654

Ottawa County Circuit Court
No. 17-004964-AA

Gaëtan Gerville-Réache (P68718)
Conor B. Dugan (P66901)
WARNER NORCROSS + JUDD LLP
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant
900 Fifth Third Center
111 Lyon Street, N.W.
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503-2487
616.752.2000
greache@wnj.com
conor.dugan@wnj.com

Amanda M. Zdarsky (P81443)
MCGRAW MORRIS PC
Attorneys for Defendant-Appellee
300 Ottawa Avenue, N.W., Suite 820
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503-2314
616.288.3703
azdarsky@mcgrawmorris.com

**APPELLANT SUSAN REAUME'S

STATEMENT OF APPELLATE JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals issued its published decision on May 21, 2019. This Court has jurisdiction under MCL 600.215 and MCR 7.303(B)(2) to grant leave to appeal.

JUDGMENT APPEALED AND RELIEF SOUGHT

Plaintiff-Appellant Susan Reaume seeks leave to appeal the Court of Appeals' May 21, 2019 published opinion holding that her rental of property as a single dwelling unit in a residential zone on a short-term basis, before the Defendant-Appellee Township of Spring Lake ("Spring Lake" or the "Township") explicitly barred such rentals, was not a prior non-conforming use. *Reaume v Township of Spring Lake*, No. 341654, _ Mich App _; _ NW2d _ (2019) (hereafter, "COA Op").

In reliance on Spring Lake's zoning ordinance and assurances from Township officials, Ms. Reaume invested \$12,000 in her home to make it attractive as a short-term-vacation rental and marketed it as such. When the Township later passed ordinances severely restricting short-term rentals in the R-1 Residential zone and requiring a license, she filed a license application based on short-term rental of her property as a nonconforming use. Spring Lake denied her application on the basis that her use was not authorized under Spring Lake's zoning regulations before the amendment and therefore was not a lawful nonconforming use. On appeal, the Ottawa County Circuit Court affirmed for the same reason. The Court of Appeals heard the appeal on leave granted.

Spring Lake's prior zoning ordinance ("Zoning Ordinance" or "SLZO") authorized the use of Ms. Reaume's property as a "Dwelling, Single-Family," a term ubiquitous in Michigan zoning regulations. Like many others in Michigan, the Zoning Ordinance defined "dwelling" to include a building occupied as a "sleeping place, either permanently or *temporarily*, by one (1)

or more Families” but excluding a “Motel or tourist room.” The Court of Appeals nevertheless held in a published opinion that short-term rental of Ms. Reaume’s home to a single family did not qualify as a “Dwelling, Single-Family” for two reasons: First, this use allows one family only and “family” expressly excludes “transitory or seasonal” relationships; the court somehow determined this precluded “temporary” occupancy. Second, the court held that the transient nature of the occupancy alone made the use equivalent to a “motel,” excluding it from the definition of “dwelling,” even though the definition of a “motel” also requires more than one “Dwelling Unit.”

Ms. Reaume respectfully requests that leave be granted. Alternatively, Ms. Reaume asks that this Court summarily reverse the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF QUESTION PRESENTED

Did Spring Lake Township’s zoning ordinance—like numerous other zoning ordinances of its kind throughout Michigan—permit the short-term rental of Ms. Reaume’s home to a single family as a “Dwelling, Single Family” use?

Plaintiff-Appellant answers: Yes.

The Circuit Court answered: No.

The Court of Appeals answered: No.

REASONS FOR GRANTING LEAVE

In recent years, the question of how to address short-term-vacation rentals has riven municipalities across the country as the market for such rentals has exploded thanks to the disruptive technologies of online and mobile services like Airbnb, Vrbo, and HomeAway.¹ The question has already worked its way into the Michigan courts many times in the last several years. See, e.g., *Eager v Peasley*, 322 Mich App 174, 176; 911 NW2d 470 (2017); *Concerned Prop Owners of Garfield Twp, Inc v Charter Twp of Garfield*, No. 342831, 2018 WL 5305235 at *1 (Mich Ct App, Oct 25, 2018); *John H Bauckham Trust v Petter*, No. 332643, 2017 WL 4158025, at *4 (Mich Ct App, Sept 19, 2017); *Christians v Twp of Clark*, No. 327519, 2016 WL 6138667 at *3 (Mich Ct App, Oct 20, 2016); *Mirabella v Twp of Autrain*, No. 320191, 2015 WL 3604735, at *3 (Mich Ct App, June 9, 2015). But until the Court of Appeals published its opinion in this case, Michigan’s jurisprudence did not yet resolve the widely applicable questions of zoning-ordinance interpretation at issue here.

The Court of Appeals’ decision here turns on the interpretation of terms and definitions that are ubiquitous in zoning regulations. Exhibit A identifies a plethora of municipalities which, like Spring Lake, adopted a zoning ordinance that employs the same concept of a “single-family dwelling” and defines “dwelling” to include “temporary” or “transient” occupancy. These

¹ See, e.g., Tariro Mzezewa, *Airbnb and Miami Beach Are at War. Travelers Are Caught in the Crossfire*, NY Times, Mar 9, 2019, <https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/09/travel/airbnb-miami-beach-war.html>; Robert McCartney & Peter Jamison, *D.C. Council Gives Final Approval To Tight Limits On Airbnb And Other Home-Sharing Companies*, Wash Post, Nov 13, 2018, https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/dc-politics/dc-council-gives-final-approval-to-tight-limits-on-airbnb-and-other-homesharing-companies/2018/11/13/04aa1240-e6d3-11e8-bbdb-72fdbf9d4fed_story.html?utm_term=.33f7a078d100; Emily Alpert Reyes, *L.A. Approves New Rules For Airbnb-Type Rentals After Years Of Debate*, LA Times, Dec 11, 2018, <https://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-ln-airbnb-rental-ordinance-20181211-story.html>.

ordinances also define “motel” and/or “hotel” as a distinct category of use that involves “transient” occupancy. None of these ordinances specifically identifies short-term-vacation rentals as a distinct use. Thus, the question of whether short-term-vacation rentals were allowed under Spring Lake’s prior zoning ordinance has broad implications for zoning laws across Michigan. As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, “the issues presented in the current matter are of increasing importance and commonality in Michigan [such] that the bench and bar would benefit from the certainty that a published opinion would bring.” (COA Op 7, App 7.)

Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals’ published opinion has the opposite effect, as it greatly muddies the waters when it comes to interpreting and applying this class of zoning ordinances to short-term rentals. One would expect that the term “single-family dwelling” in these ordinances would authorize short-term rental by a single family because “dwelling” includes “temporary” occupancy. But the Court of Appeals surprisingly held that this term “unambiguously excludes transient or temporary rental occupation,” merely because the collective individuals must have “nontransient” relationships to be a “family.” This makes no sense. The court has conflated the notion of transient relationships with the notion of transient occupancy, treating them as one and the same. In doing so, it negated the ordinance’s own definition of “dwelling” as a building occupied as a “sleeping place, either permanently or *temporarily*, by one (1) or more Families” (SLZO § 205, App 70), placing its decision in conflict with this Court’s rules of statutory construction.

Just as problematic—if not more so—is the Court of Appeals’ conclusion that, “[n]otwithstanding the possibility of some temporary occupancy,” the occupancy here is “transient,” and that this alone transforms the use into a “motel.” (COA Op 6, App 6.) Zoning ordinances typically define “motel” as a building or buildings providing multiple units for transient

occupancy, and Spring Lake's is no exception. Ms. Reaume applied to rent her home as a single unit. The court paid no mind to this definitional limitation in the zoning ordinance, however, again defying this Court's rules of statutory construction.

The court's flawed analysis creates problems of major jurisprudential significance to the zoning law in this state. At a minimum, it adds another layer of uncertainty to an area of law already fraught with it. At worst, it compels municipalities using this class of zoning ordinance to reinterpret their own zoning ordinances by equating "transient" personal relationships with transient occupancy, and equating transient occupancy to "motel" use, irrespective of the other definitional terms of their zoning ordinances.

Consequently, the Court of Appeals' decision produces at least two potential ill-effects for municipalities, homeowners, and cottage owners across Michigan. On the one hand, municipalities wishing to preserve the status quo will be advised to undertake the expense of amending their zoning ordinances to expressly authorize the short-term-vacation rentals that they already thought were permitted, lest the market for such uses should drop and negatively affect their local economies. On the other hand, municipalities wishing to restrict the existing practice of short-term-vacation rental to appease complainants will just reinterpret their existing zoning ordinance, as Spring Lake did here, to take away what was otherwise a lawful nonconforming use under the zoning ordinance's plain language, without having to fulfill their statutory obligation to pay compensation for eliminating such use. MCL 125.3208 (allowing a lawful use existing at the time of a zoning ordinance amendment to continue unless the township acquires by purchase or condemnation the right to remove the nonconforming use). Thus, the published opinion in this case threatens the expectations of municipalities in the plain-language interpretation of their ordinances; it threatens the financial well-being of property owners who relied on

the plain language to invest in homes or cottages with the expectation of subsidizing the purchase through some rental income; and it thwarts the Legislature's policy that encourages such investment by requiring compensation to be paid if a municipality opts to take away a vested right in a nonconforming use, as Spring Lake has done here.

Finally, the Court of Appeals' clearly erroneous decision results in a material injustice to Ms. Reaume and exposes countless property owners to the same injustice. Ms. Reaume invested thousands of dollars to upgrade her home to make it more attractive for potential renters. Nothing in the text of Spring Lake's zoning ordinance at the time suggested that the term "single-family dwelling" excluded temporary occupancy by a single family. Nor was there good reason to think the Zoning Ordinance's definition of "motel" included temporary rental of a home as a single unit. To be led by a zoning ordinance's plain terms and the assurances of municipal officials to invest in short-term rentals as an authorized use, and to then have the rug pulled out, is the very definition of material injustice.

In sum, the Court of Appeals' published opinion conflicts with this Court's precedents, with major jurisprudential ramifications on an issue of significant controversy across Michigan. The decision is also clearly erroneous and will result in material injustice to Ms. Reaume and numerous other property owners across Michigan. The municipalities, homeowners, and cottage owners who have relied upon the plain language of the zoning scheme at issue need this Court's help. Accordingly, Ms. Reaume respectfully asks that the Court grant leave to appeal or peremptorily reverse.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Property

Plaintiff-Appellant Susan Reaume bought a single-family house at 18190 Lovell Road (the “Property”) within the borders of the Township in 2003. (4/7/2017 Reaume Aff ¶ 2, App 56.) The Property is located within a district zoned as R-1 Low Density Residential in the Township. (Short Term Rental Registration Form, App 49.) Until 2014, the Property was Ms. Reaume’s personal residence. (4/7/2017 Reaume Aff ¶¶ 6-7, App 56.) In 2015, Ms. Reaume contacted Capstone Property Management to inquire about managing and renting the Property. (*Id.* ¶ 8, App 56.) In March 2015, Barbara Hass, Capstone’s Manager of Vacation Rentals, contacted Spring Lake’s township offices to inquire whether there were any restrictions on renting the Property. (4/3/2017 Hass Aff ¶ 3, App 59.) Connie Meiste, a Spring Lake Township employee, informed Ms. Hass that Spring Lake did not restrict either short-term or long-term rentals. (*Id.*) After learning this, Ms. Reaume hired Capstone and began to rent out the property. (4/7/2017 Reaume Aff ¶¶ 9-10, App 56.) Relying on Spring Lake’s assurances, Ms. Reaume invested over \$12,000 in renovating and refurbishing the Property to improve it for potential renters. (*Id.* ¶¶ 16-18.)

After Ms. Reaume began renting the Property, a number of neighbors of the Property through counsel complained to Spring Lake that the Property had been converted into a “two unit building in violation of the R1 zoning code, *and* is being rented as a vacation rental property for short term use by transients which violates the defined R1 zone limited as a residential area.” (1/8/2016 Concerned Homeowners Ltr to the Township, App 60 (emphasis added).) In response, Lukas Hill, the Community Development Director of Spring Lake’s Building and Planning Department—the department responsible for permitting and zoning ordinance regulations for the Township—wrote a letter to Ms. Reaume. (2/2/2016 Hill Ltr to Reaume, App 64.) Despite

being informed of two potential violations, the only thing Hill cited Ms. Reaume for was the alleged conversion of the “single family dwelling . . . into a multifamily dwelling.” (*Id.*)

Because the Property was in an R-1 Zone, Hill informed Ms. Reaume that she could not convert the Property into a multifamily building. The letter instructed her to contact the office to avoid “further enforcement action.” (*Id.*)

Because Ms. Reaume had not converted the Property into a multifamily dwelling, Capstone Property corrected the listing for the vacation rental. (4/7/2017 Reaume Aff ¶¶ 12-13.) After this correction, Hill informed her that the new listing language was acceptable and that he would “close the file.” (*Id.* ¶ 14.) As before, Hill did not indicate any concerns regarding rental of the Property on a short-term basis. (*Id.* ¶ 15.)

This did not stop the neighbors’ complaints however. On July 22, 2016, John Nash, the Township’s Supervisor, wrote to the neighbors and described various “[w]ays to deal with the Lovell rental situation which can be done right now.” (7/22/2016 Nash Ltr to Concerned Owners, App 65.) He informed them that they could call the police if there was “too much noise, trespassing, littering and/or cars and/or trailers blocking the public road—all these things are *already* covered in the SLT Ordinances.” (*Id.* (emphasis added).) He also informed the neighbors that Ottawa County Sheriff’s Deputies were going to check the area once a weekend. In closing, he wrote, “[o]bviously, the Spring Lake Township Board will proceed with their intention to develop a short term rental draft ordinance which can be presented at a public hearing.” (*Id.*)

Amendments to Spring Lake Ordinances

True to Nash’s word, the Township Board proceeded with its intention and on December 12, 2016, adopted Ordinance 255. Ordinance 255 provided for the licensing and regulation of short-term rentals. (See generally Ordinance 255, App 82.) The purpose of the ordinance was

“to provide for and protect the welfare of full-time residents and to discourage purchasing of property for vacation Rental uses.” (*Id.*) The Ordinance specifically prohibited short-term rentals in the R-1 District. (*Id.* § 6-107(a)(6), App 87.) The Ordinance did allow limited short-term rentals, meaning the rental of “any Dwelling for any one or two Rental periods of up to 14 days, not to exceed 14 days total in a calendar year,” in any zoning district. (*Id.* § 6-102, App 82; see also *id.* § 6-107(b), App 87.)

Later, in March 2017, the Township Board adopted Ordinance 257, which was partially redundant of Ordinance 255. It stated that it was “an ordinance to amend the Spring Lake Township Zoning Ordinance to permit short-term rentals and limited short-term rentals.” (Ordinance 257, App 90.) In short, this ordinance carried over some of the short-term-rental provisions from Ordinance 255 into the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance. But it purported to allow only limited short-term rentals in the R-1 District. (*Id.*)

Ms. Reaume Applies for Short-Term Rental Permit

In March 2017, Ms. Reaume submitted a short-term-rental application to the Township’s Community Development Department. (Short-Term-Rental Appl, App 49.) In it, she requested short-term-rental licenses and limited short-term-rental licenses pursuant to Ordinance 255 for the Property. Ms. Reaume contended that, because she had previously rented the Property as a short-term rental, this was a “grandfathered nonconforming use.” (Appendix to Short-Term-Rental Appl, App 51.)

Just over a week later, Carolyn Boersma, the Clerk of the Township Board, informed Ms. Reaume via letter that her application was denied. (3/10/2017 Boersma Ltr to Reaume, App 66.) Boersma stated that the Property was within a zoning district in which short-term rentals were prohibited. (*Id.*) Boersma also stated that “the short-term rental activity on the Property” did not

“qualify as a grandfather [use] under the Spring Lake Township Zoning Ordinance . . . because it was never allowed in the Township in the first place.” (*Id.*)

Ms. Reaume Appeals the Township’s Decision

On April 7, 2017, Ms. Reaume filed a Petition of Administrative Appeal. (Pet of Admin Appl, App 38.) On April 10, 2017, the Township Board, at a public meeting, considered her appeal. At the end of that meeting, the Board directed the Township’s attorney to draft a response denying Ms. Reaume’s appeal. (4/10/2017 Hr’g Tr 13-4, App 23.) Then, on May 8, 2017, the Board approved a resolution and report denying the appeal. (5/8/2017 Meeting Mins, App 14.) The report concluded that short-term rentals had never been permitted by the Township. (Report Adopted by Twp Bd 5/8/2017 at 2-3, App 16.) It stated that “short-term rentals are not allowed for a single-family dwelling in the Township. Therefore, the use of the Property as a short-term rental is not grandfathered as any use of the Property in that manner was never allowed by the Township in the first place under its Zoning Ordinance.” (*Id.* at 2.) The report further stated that short-term rentals “are not generally consistent with single-family dwellings.” (*Id.*) The Board rejected the idea that the Township’s Zoning Ordinance’s “general and expansive definition of ‘dwelling’ ” applied “to the ‘single-family dwelling’ subcategory.” (*Id.* at 3.) Thus, the definition of “dwelling” could not “be used to validate short-term rentals as single-family dwellings.” (*Id.*)

Moreover, the report rejected Ms. Reaume’s contention that she had received approval to rent the Property on a short-term basis. The report stated that the Township employees whom Ms. Reaume claimed had given her permission to engage in short-term rentals “had no authority to bind the Township.” (*Id.* at 4.) Accordingly, the Township denied the appeal.

Appeal to Circuit Court

Ms. Reaume then filed a claim of appeal with the Ottawa County Circuit Court on May 26, 2017. On July 3, 2017, the circuit court heard oral argument. On November 30, 2017, the circuit court issued its opinion and order affirming the Township Board's denial of Ms. Reaume's appeal. (11/30/2017 Order & Op, App 8.) Without detailed analysis, the circuit court held that Ms. Reaume's use of her property as a short-term rental prior to the adoption of Ordinance 255 was not a valid nonconforming use. The court stated that "[c]onspicuously absent" from the permitted uses listed in the Township's Zoning Ordinance for the R-1 district was "short-term rental." (*Id.* at 6, App 13.) Further, the court stated that any "representations by Township officials . . . to the contrary" were "unavailing." (*Id.*) The trial court gave no more reason than this for rejecting Ms. Reaume's appeal.

The Court of Appeals

In late 2017, Ms. Reaume filed an application for leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals. The Township opposed that application. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals granted the application on June 4, 2018 and the case proceeded to full briefing.

On May 21, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion affirming the circuit court for reasons different from those given by the circuit court. A large portion of the Court of Appeals' decision is spent discussing and rejecting an argument never made by Ms. Reaume, namely, that the Township was equitably estopped from enforcing the short-term rental prohibition. (COA Op 3-4, App 1.) She never argued that the Township was estopped from enforcing the prohibition. Rather, her entire brief argued that prior to the adoption of Ordinances 255 and 257, the Zoning Ordinance authorized short-term rentals in the R-1 District and that the Township's actions *confirmed* that it shared this understanding of its Zoning Ordinance before the

passage of Ordinances 255 and 257. (See Reaume Br on Appeal, x (question presented), 4-11 (argument).)

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