STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT

SUSAN REAUME,

Supreme Court No.: 159874

Plaintiff/Appellant,

Court of Appeals No.: 341654

v.

Ottawa County Circuit Court
No.: 17-4964-AA

SPRING LAKE TOWNSHIP,

Defendant/Appellee.

<p>Gaëtan Gerville-Réache (P68718) Conor B. Dugan (P66901) WARNER NORCROSS & JUDD LLP Attorneys for Appellant 900 Fifth Third Center 111 Lyon Street, N.W. Grand Rapids, MI 49503 (616) 752-2000 greache@wnj.com conor.dugan@wnj.com</p>	<p>Craig R. Noland (P30717) Amanda M. Zdarsky (P81443) McGRAW MORRIS P.C. Attorneys for Appellee 300 Ottawa Avenue, N.W., Suite 820 Grand Rapids, MI 49503 (616) 288-3700 cnoland@mcgrawmorris.com azdarsky@mcgrawmorris.com</p>

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

C. This is an Administrative Appeal Necessarily Limited to the Facts Contained Within the Record and Arguments Presented to and Considered by the Township Board. Hypothetical Questions of Hypothetical Uses Are Not Properly Before this Court.

Contrary to Reaume’s new argument, raised for the first time in this Application for Leave to Appeal, the question before this Court is *not* whether Reaume can claim “a vested right to use her home for short-term rentals *to single families.*” App. for Leave at 12 (emphasis added). This is a plain mischaracterization of the facts.

Reaume argues that “[t]here is no reason why a single ‘family’ could not ‘temporarily’ occupy a ‘dwelling.’” App. for Leave at 14-15. While this statement improperly attempts to conflate temporary residence with short-term rental to transient guests, as will be discussed in

greater detail below, it also suffers from a flawed underlying assumption—that the issue before this Court involves only rental to “a single ‘family’”. It does not.

There is nothing in the Record to support this claim, raised for the first time before this Court, that Reaume rented her property only to a single family. This was also not an argument presented to the Township Board or raised at any previous point in this litigation. Accordingly, Reaume’s hypothetical question of “short-term rentals *to single families*” is not properly before this Court.

It bears repeating that this is not an original civil action. Over the course of two separate appeals, one to the Circuit Court and another by leave to the Court of Appeals, Reaume repeatedly attempted to expand the facts beyond those contained within the Record, even being permitted to do so in the Circuit Court, supplementing the Record with all Township documents having anything to do with the property, regardless of whether such documents were considered by the Township Board in rendering its decision. However, the law is clear: Reaume is only permitted to challenge the decision of the Township Board based upon the evidence presented to it and have this Court determine whether the decision “was authorized by law and the findings were supported by competent, material, and substantial evidence *on the whole record.*” MCR 7.122(G)(2) (emphasis added); Const. (1963), art 6, § 28. Rule 7.122 further provides that, unless otherwise stated, MCR 7.101 through 7.115 apply. MCR 7.122(A)(1). And, like all appeals, MCR 7.109(A) makes clear that “[a]ppeals to the circuit court are heard on the original record . . . as defined in MCR 7.210(A)(2).” Reaume is not entitled to present new evidence or raise new allegations concerning the manner in which she used her property or ask this Court to decide hypothetical questions divorced from the decision by the Township Board or the Record evidence.

It is well settled that this Court, when exercising its appellate jurisdiction, may not act as a “super zoning commission.” *Robinson v City of Bloomfield Hills*, 350 Mich 425, 430; 86 NW2d 166, 169 (1957). Once a claim of appeal is filed, the Circuit Court and the courts that follow reviewing the underlying decision in an appellate capacity. *Macenas v Vill of Michiana*, 433 Mich 380, 387 (1989). Therefore, the parties are not permitted to add to the record, and “an appellate court exceeds its function when it measures a zoning appeals board order against evidence which the board did not consider.” *Lorland Civic Assoc v Dimatteo*, 10 Mich App 129, 138; 157 NW2d (1968). Further, the appellant may not raise issues that were not presented to the board below for consideration. *Town & Country Dodge, Inc v Dept of Treasury*, 420 Mich 226, 228 n 1; 362 NW2d 618 (1984).

In reviewing the Township Board’s decision under the “substantial evidence” test, “[s]uch review must be undertaken with considerable sensitivity in order that the courts accord due deference to administrative expertise and not invade the province of exclusive administrative fact-finding by displacing an agency's choice between two reasonably differing views.” *Vanzandt v State Employees Ret Sys*, 266 Mich App 579, 588; 701 NW2d 214, 220 (2005), quoting *Michigan Employment Relations Comm v Detroit Symphony Orchestra, Inc*, 393 Mich 116, 124; 223 NW2d 283 (1974). Therefore, “[g]reat deference is accorded to the circuit court's review of the [administrative] agency's factual findings . . .” *Mericka v Dep’t of Cmty Health*, 283 Mich App 29, 36; 770 NW2d 24, 28 (2009) (internal citations omitted).

In determining whether Reaume acquired a vested right to continue her prior nonconforming use of the property, this Court must examine “the manner it was used prior to the adoption of a zoning ordinance.” *Bevan v Brandon Tp*, 438 Mich 385, 401; 475 NW2d 37, 45 (1991), quoting *Gackler v Yankee Springs Twp*, 427 Mich 562, 573-574; 398 NW2d 393 (1986).

This case cannot be analyzed in a vacuum or divorced from the particulars of Reaume's property use; it must be based only upon the facts contained within the Record.

D. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Established Principles of Statutory Construction in Finding that Reaume's Short-Term Rental Activity was not a Lawful, Prior Nonconforming Use.

This case is not about short-term rentals generally, but whether the manner in which Reaume used her property as a short-term rental to groups of transient guests was grandfathered as a prior nonconforming use under the Township's prior Zoning Ordinance. Both the Township's Zoning Ordinance and Michigan law make clear that a use which was not *lawful*, prior to a new or amended ordinance is not entitled to "nonconforming use" status. Specifically, the Township Zoning Ordinance provision regarding nonconforming uses provides:

Nonconforming Buildings, Structures, Lots, and uses which do not conform to one (1) or more of the provisions or requirements of this Ordinance or any subsequent amendments thereto, but *which are lawfully established* prior to the adoption of this Ordinance or subsequent amendment, may be continued.

(Zoning Ordinance at 3-29, Appx. at 76a (emphasis added)). This is consistent with MCL 125.3208, "Regulation of nonconforming uses and structures; elimination of nonconforming uses and structures," which provides in relevant part:

If the use of a dwelling, building, or structure or of the land is lawful at the time of enactment of a zoning ordinance or an amendment to a zoning ordinance, then that use may be continued although the use does not conform to the zoning ordinance or amendment.

There is no dispute that Reaume used her property as a short-term rental—specifically that she rented the property to vacationing "guests" for as little as two days at a time—prior to the adoption of Ordinances 255 and 257. The only question that remains is whether Reaume's use was permitted under the prior version of the Zoning Ordinance. It was not.

1. The manner in which Reaume used her property—renting to transient guests on a short-term basis—was not permitted under the prior version of the Zoning Ordinance.

It is undisputed that there is no *express* mention of “Short-Term Rentals” anywhere in the prior version of the Township’s Zoning Ordinance. However, Reaume fails to recognize that any use not expressly permitted by a zoning ordinance is considered a nuisance per se and is prohibited. MCL 125.3407.

This Court must look to the text of the Zoning Ordinance to determine whether the manner that Reaume had used her property, as detailed above, was permitted under the prior version of the Zoning Ordinance.

In her Application for Leave, Reaume focuses on the interpretation of “Dwelling, Single-Family,” but ignores the critical overarching classification of the R-1 District as Residential. (Zoning Ordinance at 4-1, 4-12, Appx. at 61b, 67b). The plain language of the Zoning Ordinance categorizes the R-1 District under “Residential Districts,” and, specifically, as the “Low-Density Residential-Resource” District. (Zoning Ordinance at 4-1, Appx. at 61b; Zoning Ordinance at 4-12, Appx. at 78a). “The R-1 Low-Density Residential Resource District is intended for low-density Single Family uses . . .” (Zoning Ordinance at 4-12, Appx. at 78a). Thus, for purposes of this appeal, the R-1 District is most critically defined by both its “residential” and “single-family” restrictions.

The first term, “residential,” is not defined within the language of the Zoning Ordinance. See Zoning Ordinance, Section 2. However, “[o]rdinances are treated as statutes for the purposes of interpretation and review.” *Great Lakes Soc v Georgetown Charter Tp*, 281 Mich App 396, 407–08; 761 NW2d 371, 380 (2008), citing *Soupal v Shady View, Inc*, 469 Mich 458, 462; 672 NW2d 171 (2003). Therefore, where undefined, “[t]erms used in an ordinance must be given their

plain and ordinary meanings, and it is appropriate to consult a dictionary for definitions.” *Great Lakes Soc*, 281 Mich App at 407–08; 761 NW2d at 380, citing *Halloran v Bhan*, 470 Mich 572, 578; 683 NW2d 129 (2004).

According to the dictionary, “residential” means “of or relating to residence or residences.” “Residential,” Dictionary.Com, <https://www.dictionary.com/browse/residential>, Aug. 22, 2018. “Residence” is defined as “the place, especially the house, in which a person lives or resides; dwelling place; home.” “Residence,” Dictionary.com, <https://www.dictionary.com/browse/residence?s=t>, Aug. 22, 2018. It is “the place where one actually lives as distinguished from one’s domicile or a place of temporary sojourn[;]” “a building used as a home.” “Residence,” Merriam-Webster Dictionary, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/residence>, Aug. 22, 2018.

While a tenant is certainly capable of making a property his or her *home*, the common and ordinary meaning of “residential” cannot coincide with Reaume’s short-term rental activity. See also “Resident,” Merriam-Webster Thesaurus, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/thesaurus/resident>, Aug. 22, 2018 (listing “tenant” as a synonym of “resident”). One can easily see that Reaume was not using the property “as a home,” but was instead marketing it as a “vacation rental” to “guests,” or, put another way, a “place of temporary sojourn.”

Per the HomeAway.com Listings, those renting the property for as short as two days were referred to as “guests.” Merriam-Webster lists “guest” and “transient” as antonyms of “resident.” “Resident,” Merriam-Webster Thesaurus, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/thesaurus/resident>, Aug. 22, 2018. Indeed, the distinction between “guests” and renters or tenants is aptly illustrated by the reminder in the HomeAway.com Listings that the property’s guests must bring their own meals. A reminder that the landlord will not be providing meals is certainly not necessary when entering into a lease agreement with tenants making the property their home. (See Jan. 8, 2016

correspondence, Appx. at 60a-63a; HomeAway.com Listings, Appx. at 1b-22b). Plainly, using the property on a nightly basis is simply not the same as a resident or tenant making the property his or her home, even on a temporary basis.

The Zoning Ordinance’s classification of the R-1 District as “Residential” is plain and unambiguous when compared with the manner in which Reaume was using her property for profit, as a commercial venture; therefore, no further judicial construction is necessary. *See In re Certified Question from US Court of Appeals for Sixth Circuit*, 468 Mich 109, 113; 659 NW2d 597, 600 (2003). However, even if this Court chooses to look further, established case law discussed in detail above demonstrates that short-term rentals such as those offered by Reaume are commercial, not residential uses. *See Laketon Township*, 485 Mich 933; *O’Connor*, 459 Mich 335; *Eager*, 322 Mich App 174; *Concerned Prop Owners of Garfield Twp, Inc*, No. 342831, 2018 WL 5305235; *Enchanted Forest Prop Owners Ass’n*, 2010 WL 866148; *see also Terrien*, 467 Mich. at 63–64. In line with this Court’s reasoning in *O’Connor* and in *Terrien*, this was not a situation in which guests had any continuity of presence, whether they lived their full-time or not. Guests could not store their belongings there and had no right to return after being away. Reaume’s short-term rental use was, as advertised, a profit-making enterprise. *See Terrien*, 467 Mich. at 63–64.

The second pertinent restriction of the R-1 District permits only “single family” dwellings. (Zoning Ordinance at 4-1- 4-5, Appx. at 61b-64b; Zoning Ordinance at 4-12, Appx. at 78a).

The Zoning Ordinance defines “Dwelling,” in relevant part, as

Any Building or portion thereof which is occupied in whole or in part as a home, residence, or sleeping place, either permanently or temporarily, by one (1) or more Families, but not including Motels or tourist rooms.

(Zoning Ordinance at 2-9, Appx. at 70a). The Zoning Ordinance then narrows this definition with three specific subsets under the definition of Dwelling: “Dwelling, Single-Family,” “Dwelling,

Two-Family,” and “Dwelling, Multi-Family.” (Zoning Ordinance at 2-9, Appx. at 70a). The R-1 District does not permit all Dwellings, but only Single-Family Dwellings. As ordinances are construed as statutes, ““it is a settled rule of statutory construction that where a statute contains a specific statutory provision and a related, but more general, provision, the specific one controls.”” *Odom v Wayne Co*, 482 Mich 459, 471; 760 NW2d 217 (2008) (internal citation omitted).

Under the Zoning Ordinance, “Dwelling: single family” is “[a] Building designed for use and occupancy by one (1) Family only.” (Zoning Ordinance at 2-9, Appx. at 70a). “Family” is then defined as

A single individual or individuals, domiciled together, whose relationship is of a continuing non-transient domestic character and who are cooking and living together as a single, nonprofit housekeeping unit, but not including any society, club, fraternity, sorority, association, lodge, coterie, organization, or group of students, or other individuals whose relationship is of a transitory or seasonal nature, or for anticipated limited duration of school terms, or other similar determinable period of time.

(Zoning Ordinance at 2-10, Appx. at 71a). Critically, “family” specifically excludes “individuals whose relationship is of a transitory or seasonal nature, or for a limited duration.” (Zoning Ordinance at 2-10, Appx. at 71a).

Again, though “transient” is not defined within the Zoning Ordinance, the term has a common and ordinary meaning of “staying only a short time;” “a person or thing that is transient, especially a temporary guest, boarder, laborer, or the like.” “Transient,” Dictionary.com, <https://www.dictionary.com/browse/transient>, Aug, 20, 2018. Therefore, Reaume’s rental of the property to temporary “guests” on a nightly and seasonal basis was explicitly prohibited within the R-1 District prior to Ordinances 255 and 257.

Put another way, “Dwelling” is an umbrella term; *conceptually*, Dwellings can be fully or only partially homes, occupied permanently or temporarily, and could include one family or perhaps many families. (Zoning Ordinance at 2-9, Appx. at 70a). Simply because a general term—in this case “Dwelling”—is defined within an ordinance, does not mean that it is permitted in all forms within any specific location.

The Zoning Ordinance contemplates that certain Dwellings may be permitted, while others may not, explaining that “. . . Dwellings . . . used, erected, altered, razed, or converted in violation of any provision of this Ordinance or regulations adopted under the authority of this Ordinance, are declared to be a nuisance per se. (Zoning Ordinance at 1-18, Appx. at 50b).

The R-1 District did not allow for all Dwellings. R-1 District Dwellings must be “Single-Family.” Unlike Dwellings generally, Single-Family Dwellings could not be only partially homes; they could not include multiple families; most importantly, they could not accommodate temporary residence by individuals “whose relationship is of a continuing non-transient domestic character,” “transient,” or “seasonal.” (Zoning Ordinance at 2-10, Appx. at 71a). This more specific provision governs the R-1 District, making Reaume’s prior use for transient and seasonal rental a nuisance per se.

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